


IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, ALABAMA 
GUNTERSVILLE DIVISION 

 
KEITH A. KUBERT, an individual;  ) 
BRENDA C. KUBERT, an individual. ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiffs,  ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v.    ) 
      ) CV-04-0244 
      ) 
TOBYE SCHEER, an individual;  ) 
STEELE & ASSOCIATES-CENTURY 21  ) 
REALTY, a corporation; JOANN SMITH, ) 
an individual; THE PREMIERE AGENCY- ) 
CENTURY 21 REALTY, a corporation; ) 
ADOBE, INC. a/k/a AMERISPEC HOME  ) 
INSPECTION SERVICE, a corporation;  ) 
LARRY W. HARDEN, an individual;  ) 
MARSHA S. HARDEN, an individual. ) 
BOBBY W. MARTIN, an individual;  ) 
MYRA J. MARTIN, an individual;  ) 
AUSTIN E. HINDS, Jr. an individual; ) 
JACQUELINE L. HINDS, an individual; ) 
MONICA ROBERTSON, an individual;  ) 
FICTITIOUS PARTIES, X, Y, Z,  )  
as unnamed co-conspirator;   ) 
       )  
   Defendants.  ) 
      ) 
 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

JURISDICTION and VENUE 
 

 
1. The Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama has subject matter 

jurisdiction over the above styled action in that the amount in controversy exceeds ten 

thousand dollars and plaintiffs seek equitable relief.  Venue is proper pursuant to the 

Alabama Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 82, in that the real estate involved in the present 



action is within this division, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise 

to plaintiffs’ claims arose or occurred in this division. 

PARTIES   

2. Plaintiffs Keith A. Kubert (herein “Keith Kubert or Mr. Kubert”) and 

Brenda C. Kubert (herein “Brenda Kubert or Mrs. Kubert”) are both residents of Madison 

County, Alabama. 

3. Defendants, Larry W. Harden (herein “Larry Harden or Mr. Harden”) and 

Marsha S. Harden (herein “Marsha Harden or Mrs. Harden”) are individuals whose 

residence is Marshall County, Alabama.   

4.  Defendants, Bobby W. Martin (herein “Bobby Martin or Mr. Martin”) and 

Myra J. Martin (herein “Myra J. Martin”) are individuals whose residence is Cullman 

County, Alabama. 

5. Defendants, Austin E. Hinds, Jr. (herein “Austin Hinds or Mr. Hinds”) and 

Jacqueline L. Hinds (herein “Jacqueline Hinds or Mrs. Hinds”) are individuals whose 

residence is Marshall County, Alabama. 

6. Defendant, Monica Robertson (herein “Monica or Ms. Robertson”) is an 

individual whose residence is Shelby County, Alabama. 

7. Defendant, Tobye Scheer (herein “Ms. Scheer”) is an individual whose 

residence is Madison County, Alabama.  Ms. Scheer does real estate business in and 

around Marshall County, Alabama.   

8. Defendant, Steele & Associates- Century 21 Realty (herein “Steele & 

Associates”) is a corporation having done business or presently doing business in 
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Marshall County, Alabama.  Steele & Associates is located at 110 Lily Flagg Road, 

Huntsville, Alabama. 

9.  Defendant, Joann Smith (herein “Ms. Smith”) is an individual whose 

residence is Marshall County, Alabama.   Ms. Smith does real estate business in and 

around Marshall County, Alabama. 

10. Defendant, The Premiere Agency – Century 21 Realty (herein “Premiere”) 

is a corporation having done business or presently doing business in Marshall County, 

Alabama.  The Premiere agency is located at 423 North Main Street, Arab, Alabama. 

11. Defendant, Adobe, Inc. a/k/a AmeriSpec Home Inspection Service (herein 

“AmeriSpec”) is a corporation having done business or presently doing business in 

Marshall County, Alabama.   

12. Fictitious parties X, Y, Z are unnamed co-conspirators involved in the 

fraudulent transfer of property owned by defendants Larry and Marsha Harden and/or 

property held in constructive trust by defendants, Bobby and Myra Martin.  

FACTS

13. Ms. Scheer and Mr. & Mrs. Kubert began their business relationship in 

2000 when Ms. Scheer assisted the plaintiffs in the purchase of their residence located at 

305 Broad Armstrong, Brownsboro, AL 35741.  

14. In the Fall of 2003 the Kuberts decided to relocate to a more rural setting 

in the greater Huntsville area.   

15. Because of their prior relationship the Kuberts decided to enlist the 

services of Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates as their agent in the sell of their 

Brownsboro home.   
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16. Ms. Scheer offered to act as the Kuberts’ exclusive buyers’ agent in 

obtaining a replacement property.  Ms. Scheer represented to the Kuberts that she knew 

the market very well, that she was in homes on a constant basis, that she was a good 

judge of homes, and that she would not show the Kuberts properties that were not good 

properties.  In consideration for using Ms. Scheer as their exclusive agent in the purchase 

of the replacement residence Ms. Scheer agreed to reduce the commission on the re-sale 

of the Kuberts’ Brownsboro residence from 6% to 5%.   

17. Ms. Scheer insisted that the Kuberts’ sign a contract memorializing the 

Kuberts’ agreement to use her as their exclusive agent in the purchase of the replacement 

residence because Ms. Scheer said that her company (Steele & Associates) required a 

signed contract.  Ms. Scheer also insisted that the Kuberts sign a Century 21 Steele & 

Associates Limited Consensual Dual Agency Agreement allowing her to act as both their 

agent and the buyer’s agent in the sale of their Brownsboro residence.  

18. The Kuberts, by and through their exclusive agent Ms. Scheer, looked at 

several properties in and around the Huntsville area including the property located at 980 

Huntington Circle, Arab, Alabama (herein “Huntington Circle property”) in anticipation 

of purchasing a replacement residence for their Brownsboro residence.  The Kuberts 

discussed at length with Ms. Scheer their objective of purchasing a property that would 

require only minor updating and that would NOT require major repairs. 

19. The residential property located at 980 Huntington Circle, Arab, Alabama 

was listed with the defendants Joann Smith and the Century 21 Premiere agency in Arab, 

Alabama. 
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20. Ms. Scheer first showed the Kuberts the Huntington Circle property as 

part of a tour of area homes.  When the Kuberts expressed an interest in the property Ms. 

Scheer contacted an appraiser familiar with the Arab market who appraised the 

Huntington Circle property based on the MLS listing for above and below ground square 

footage cost.  The Kuberts made an initial offer on the property at 980 Huntington Circle 

based on the appraised value of the property as conveyed to them by Ms. Scheer.  The 

Hardens countered with an amount higher than was reasonable based on the value of the 

property as conveyed to the Kuberts by Ms. Scheer so the counteroffer was rejected.   

21. Another property viewed and considered by the Kuberts was a residence 

located at 911 Whispering Pines Trail, Decatur, Alabama (herein “Decatur property”).   

22. Because the Kuberts were seriously considering purchasing the Decatur 

property they asked that Ms. Scheer provide them with a list of inspection companies in 

the Decatur area.  The Kuberts selected and hired JADE Home Inspection Service at 816 

6th Ave SE, Decatur, Alabama to do the inspection on the property. 

23. On or about March 10, 2004, JADE Home Inspection inspected the 

Decatur property. 

24. As required by the contract JADE Home Inspection provided the Kuberts 

and their agent Ms. Scheer with a detailed inspection report. 

25. The inspection report on the property at 911 Whispering Pines Trail 

identified physical problems with the property such as cracks in the brick, broken 

window seals and moisture problems. 
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26 The Kuberts declined to purchase the Decatur property based on the 

inspection report provided by JADE Home Inspection, and they signed a mutual release 

to that effect.  

27. When the purchase of the residence in Decatur, Alabama fell through the 

Kuberts’ exclusive agent Ms. Scheer urged them to revisit and reconsider the property 

located at 980 Huntington Circle, Arab, Alabama because the sale of the Kuberts’ 

Brownsboro residence was scheduled to go through at the end of March 2004.    

28. The second showing of the Huntington Circle property was one afternoon 

when the Kuberts were scheduled to view another home in Decatur so the viewing was 

short.  

29. The Kuberts asked Ms. Scheer for her professional opinion as their 

exclusive buyers’ agent regarding the Huntington Circle property.  Ms. Scheer told the 

Kuberts that (a) the Arab schools were exceptional; (b) that when buyers came to 

Huntsville from out of town looking for basement homes they were brought to Arab; (c) 

that the home was a good investment; (d) that Ms. Scheer observed no negatives with the 

property; (e) that there was a “good $30K in landscaping;” (f) that the home was in good 

shape and that the Kuberts would not have to do anything; (h) that the sellers had done a 

“great job” in the basement; (i) that the house had a great deck “you will really like it;” (j) 

that the home was in an area with more expensive homes; (k) regarding visible wood rot 

to the door facing around the main entrance Ms. Scheer told the Kuberts that it was just 

superficial and easily replaced with stock millwork by a handyman; (l) that she would not 

show them properties that were not good properties; (m) as important as what Ms. Scheer 

did say about the property was the fact that Ms. Scheer did not direct the Kuberts 
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attention to any problems in the property or give them cause to step away from the 

purchase as she had indicated that she would do if the property were not suitable, and; (n) 

Ms. Scheer indicated that she was looking forward to visiting them after they moved in 

and personalized the property. 

30. On or about March 12, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert, based on Ms. Scheer’s 

representations regarding the financial soundness of the purchase and the physical 

soundness of the property, made a second offer to purchase the residential Huntington 

Circle property.  The Kuberts relied on Ms. Scheer’s knowledge of them and their 

lifestyle and her real estate expertise and experience to advise them of any defects, 

problems or negatives to ensure that the purchase was financially sound and met their 

budgeted goals. 

31. On or about March 13, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Harden accepted the offer. 

32. The Kuberts requested that their exclusive agent, Ms. Scheer, arrange to 

have the Huntington Circle property inspected because Ms. Scheer had previously stated 

to the Kuberts that it was mandatory that she be present for the inspection and because 

Ms. Scheer had a very busy schedule that would make it unreasonable for the Kuberts to 

make the arrangements for her.  The Kuberts told Ms. Scheer that they would be 

available whenever Ms. Scheer and her selected inspector worked out an acceptable date 

and time for the inspection.   

33. The Kuberts suggested that Ms. Scheer contact JADE Home Inspection 

because they were pleased with JADE’s inspection of the Decatur property and trusted 

that the inspection would be done correctly.  
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34. Ms. Scheer informed the Kuberts that JADE Home Inspection was not 

available to do the inspection at the Huntington Circle property because of a conflict with 

her schedule. 

35. Ms. Scheer arranged instead for AmeriSpec of 4717 University Drive, 

Suite 102-C, Huntsville, Alabama to do the inspection without input from the Kuberts. 

36. Ms. Scheer later informed the Kuberts that she frequently did business 

with Amerispec in Huntsville, and that it was a reputable inspection service.  

37. Ms. Scheer informed the Kuberts that she had to be present when the 

inspection was being conducted as a matter of Alabama law to protect their interest.  Ms. 

Scheer told Mr. Kubert that he needed to meet her at the Huntington Circle property to 

pay for the inspection. 

38. The inspection was scheduled on or about March 18, 2004.  When Mr. 

Kubert arrived the owners of the property were present along with the inspector, the 

selling agent, Joann Smith, and Ms. Scheer.   

39. Mr. Kubert arrived only minutes after the scheduled time for the 

inspection to begin yet the inspector informed Mr. Kubert that he had already completed 

the inspection of the exterior of the home and was about to start on the interior.   

40. Instead of remaining at the Huntington Circle property, as promised, Ms. 

Scheer left shortly after the inspection began because she said she had to attend a closing 

in Huntsville that she failed to complete from the previous day. 

41. The Kuberts received an inspection report from Amerispec shortly after 

the inspection. 

42. The Summary Report Amerispec provided listed seven areas of concern.   
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43. The Amerispec Summary Report listed three items under the heading 

Windows & Frames.   

Review. 1. Suggest sealing/caulking as part of routine maintenance to 
prevent further deterioration. 2. Wood deterioration observed at front door, 
rear deck French doors jamb and trim.  Suggest repairs/replacement as 
needed. 3.  Double glazed insulated windows observed in the home.  The 
inspector is unable to determine if all double glazed insulated windows in 
this property are completely intact and without compromised seals.  
Conditions indicating a broken seal are not always visible or present and 
may not be apparent or visible at the time of inspection.  Changing 
conditions such as temperature, humidity, and lighting limit the ability of 
the inspector to visually review these windows for broken seals.  For more 
complete information on the condition of all double glazed windows, 
consult the seller prior to closing.  
 
44.  According to Amerispec’s Summary Report the Sprinkler system was not 

tested. 

45. According to Amerispec’s Summary Report no insulation was observed in 

the basement and insulation was suggested as a cost management issue.  

46. The Amerispec inspector did not operate the Water Heater. 

47. The Amerispec Summary Report indicated evidence of a water leak 

around the flue venting of the water heater. 

48. The Amerispec Summary Report indicated that there was no review or 

testing of Jacuzi tub. 

49. The Amerispec Summary Report indicated a water leak at the hot water 

side of the sink faucet in the basement bathroom. 

50. According to the full Amerispec report all other areas were “Serviceable.”  

Serviceable is defined as “the materials and workmanship are acceptable and in generally 

satisfactory condition.” 
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51. Based on their experience with JADE Home Inspection, the minimal 

problems reported in the inspection report for the Huntington Circle property, and Ms. 

Scheer’s representations regarding the soundness and quality of the property, the Kuberts 

were misled to believe that the property was in good condition.  The Kuberts believed 

that the areas of concern mentioned in the inspection report were only minor problems 

that were easily repaired based on comments made by Ms. Scheer during the walk 

through of the property.  

52. Before finalizing the purchase, the mortgage company that would be 

financing the purchase, Magellan Mortgage, arranged for Denton Appraisals of 2669 

Quarter Lane, Hampton Cove, Alabama (herein “Denton Appraisal”) to appraise the 

property.   

53. On or about March 23, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert received a copy of the 

appraisal done by Denton Appraisals.  The appraisal was delivered to Magellan Mortgage 

of Huntsville, Alabama.   

54. Mr. & Mrs. Kubert had requested a full appraisal on the Huntington Circle 

property.  However, an “exterior only inspection” was done on the property.   

55. Based on the exterior only inspection and comparables in the area the 

Huntington Circle property appraised at $320,000 as of March 22, 2004.   

56. The Kuberts were very dissatisfied with the exterior only inspection 

because they were concerned that it would not reveal the true value of the property based 

on their prior experience with the Decatur property. 
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57. Mr. Kubert expressed his concerns about the quality and efficacy of the 

appraisal with Ms. Scheer and with Ms. Betsy Jarrett (herein “Ms. Jarrett”) at Magellan 

Mortgage Company. 

58. The Kuberts were assured by Ms. Scheer and Ms. Jarrett that the appraisal 

on the Huntington Circle property would be sufficient. 

59. On or about March 27, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert met with Ms. Scheer at 

the Huntington Circle property for a walk through.  Mr. & Mrs. Kubert were only able to 

do a quick walk through the property as the sellers, Mr. & Mrs. Harden, were still 

occupying the property and were in the process of moving their furniture and belongings 

during this time.  Additionally, several areas were inaccessible to the Kuberts because the 

carpets were being cleaned restricting assess to these areas particularly the second floor.  

60. Ms. Scheer assured the Kuberts that the property was sound and worth the 

negotiated price of $318,000 and that the areas of concern listed in the inspection report 

were only minor and easily repaired. 

61. On or about March 29, 2004, the parties closed on the Huntington Circle 

property.   

62. Prior to closing on the Huntington Circle property at 1:30 p.m. Ms. Scheer 

and the Kuberts closed on the sale of the Kubert’s home in Brownsboro.  Ms. Scheer 

acted as a limited consensual dual agent for both the Kuberts and Stephen G. Meuler 

(herein “Mr. Meuler”) in the sale of the Kuberts’ Brownsboro residence.  Because the 

sale of the Kuberts’ Brownsboro residence did not occur until 1:30 p.m. there was no 

time for a final walk through of the Huntington Circle property before closing. 
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63. Ms. Scheer also acted as a limited consensual dual agent for Mr. Meuler in 

the sale of his residential property prior to Mr. Meuler’s purchase of the Kuberts’ 

residential property and prior the sale of the Huntington Circle property.   

64. After closing on the property in Arab, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert returned to 

Huntsville to finish packing and cleaning their home and to prepare to move the next day.  

At some point late in the afternoon on or about March 29, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert 

finally had the opportunity to view the Huntington Circle property without the sellers and 

their belongings being present.  It was at this time, that the Kuberts discovered many 

flaws in the Huntington Circle property that had been concealed or not detected by the 

inspector and/or their agent Ms. Scheer.  

65. On or about March 30, 2004, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert moved into the 

Huntington Circle property.  Mr. & Mrs. Kubert discovered that the extent of damage to 

the Huntington Circle property was extensive and that much of the damage had been 

intentionally concealed from view. 

66. On or about March 30, 2004, the day after closing, Ms. Smith of the 

Premiere agency delivered a copy of the plat plan for the Huntington Circle property to 

Mr. & Mrs. Kubert. 

67. The plat of the Huntington Circle property differed significantly from the 

MLS listing.  Specifically, the front and rear dimensions of the property did not coincide 

with the MLS dimensions: the actual front dimension is 75.92 feet instead of 98 feet and 

actual rear dimension is 294.59 feet instead of 410 feet.  Ms. Smith, the listing agent, had 

possession of the plot plan prior to closing and was familiar with the Huntington Circle 
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property because the property had been on the market for a long time and because she 

lives within a few lots of the property. 

68. Actual room dimensions also differ significantly from MLS listing 

sometimes by as much as a foot per dimension.  When the Kuberts inquired about the 

room dimensions Ms. Smith informed them that her husband had measured all the room 

sizes with a hand held laser device.    

69.      Over the course of the next two weeks Mr. & Mrs. Kubert found extensive 

damage that had been concealed to all areas of the property including but not limited to: 

floors, windows, exterior and interior doors, walls, roof, water supply system, decks, hot 

water heaters, faucets and other fixtures, plumbing, cabinets, carpeting, sprinkler systems, 

doors, electrical system, etc.  

70. The Kuberts maintain that the residential property had been dressed up in 

order to deceive buyers.  The following is a partial list of the deceptive practices 

employed:  hardwood floors in the residence were refinished around existing rugs and 

furniture; walls were painted only in visible areas; wood work surrounding entryways 

was filled with putty and painted to appear sound; cracks in mortar were filled with putty 

to camouflage damage; decks were covered with a temporary water repellant instead of 

permanent sealant; windows, cabinets and trim were painted in an attempt to hide 

blemishes and flaws in the wood work; rugs were strategically placed to hide blemishes 

in floors; wholes in walls were camouflaged; damage around the shower stall in one 

bathroom was papered over to camouflage hole.   

71. Defendant Amerispec received $430.00 dollars for the inspection of the 

Huntington Circle property. 
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72. Upon discovery the extensive damage to the Huntington Circle property 

Mr. Kubert attempted to contact Mr. Philip Fraley (“Mr. Fraley”), owner and operator of 

the local Amerispec franchise.  

73. Mr. Fraley did not contact Mr. Kubert about the failed inspection until Mr. 

Kubert contacted corporate Amerispec. 

74. When Mr. Fraley finally contacted Mr. Kubert he told him he could not 

understand how the inspection went wrong because the individual who performed the 

inspection was well qualified and an architect.  

75. Mr. Kubert believed his only recourse was to get a return of the inspection 

fee based on language contained in the Inspection Agreement and Mr. Fraley’s comments 

regarding the inspector’s qualifications.  The Inspection Agreement states “if, we fail to 

perform the Services as provided herein or are careless or negligent in the 

performance of the Services and/or preparing the Report, our liability for any and 

all claims related thereto is limited to the fee paid for the Services (unless contrary 

to state law), and you release us form any and all additional liability.” (emphasis in 

the original).   

76. Mr. Fraley told Mr. Kubert he would refund the price of the inspection. 

77. On or about April 7, 2004, Mr. Fraley sent someone to Mr. Kuberts’ office 

with a check and a release.  On behalf of Amerispec and Mr. Fraley, the individual 

instructed Mr. Kubert to sign the release in exchange for the refund of the inspection fee.   

78. Mr. Todd Padgett inspected the property located at 980 Huntington Circle 

NW, Arab, Alabama. 
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79.  Mr. Todd Padgett inspected the property located at 980 Huntington Circle 

on behalf of Amerispec Home Inspection Service. 

80. Mr. Todd Padgett was not a licensed inspector at the time he inspected the 

property located at 980 Huntington Circle, Arab, Alabama. 

81. On March 18, 2004, Mr. Todd Padgett was not licensed with the State of 

Alabama as a qualified home inspector. 

82. Mr. Fraley and/or Amerispec sent an untrained and unlicensed individual 

to inspect the Huntington Circle property.   

83. Mr. Fraley knew at the time that he induced Mr. Kubert to sign the release 

in return for the inspection fee that the inspector of the Huntington Circle property was 

not properly trained and/or licensed. 

84. Mr. Fraley induced Mr. Kubert to sign the general release because he was 

aware of Mr. Kubert’s misperception regarding legal recourse based on the language 

contained in the Inspection Agreement and because he knew at the time he requested Mr. 

Kubert to sign the release that the individual conducting the inspection was not licensed.   

85. Mr. Fraley knew at the time that he had his agent induce Mr. Kubert to 

sign the release that the inspector knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless disregard 

failed to report damage and defects observed in the Huntington Circle property.   

86. Mr. Fraley knew that the Kuberts had a cause of action against Amerispec 

and that the language limiting liability in the Inspection Agreement was not binding. 

87. Mr. Fraley and/or Amerispec induced Mr. Kubert to sign the release to 

intentionally avoid known liability for failure to properly license Mr. Todd Padgett 

because the limited liability clause is unenforceable under Alabama law.  The release is 
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also unenforceable under Section 34-14B-9(b) because a person who fails to be licensed 

“shall not bring any action to enforce the provisions of any contract to provide home 

inspections he or she entered into in violation” of the law. Code of Alabama 1975 § 34-

14B-9(b).  

88. Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates received a $ 20,000 dollar 

commission on the sell of the Kuberts’ Brownsboro residence. 

89. Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates received a $ 9,540.00 dollar 

commission as the buyer’s agent on the sale of Huntington Circle property. 

90. Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates also received a commission on the 

sell of the residence owned by Mr. Meuler who purchased the Kuberts’ residence at 

Brownsboro.    

91. On or about June 4, 2004, Keith and Brenda Kubert filed suit in the Circuit 

Court of Marshall County CV-04-0244 against the sellers of the Huntington Circle 

property, Larry and Marsha Harden; the sellers real estate agent, Joann Smith and 

Premiere Agency- Century 21 Realty; the company that inspected the property, Adobe, 

Inc. d/b/a Amerispec Home Inspection Service, and; the buyers’ agent Tobye Scheer and 

Steele & Associates- Century 21 Realty. 

 92. On June 25, 2004, the Hardens transferred by Warranty Deed commercial 

property owned by them to Bobby W. Martin and Myra J. Martin (“Martins”) located in 

Arab, Alabama Marshall County recorded in Book 2945 Pages 167-170.   

 93. The Martins are related to the Hardens by blood and/or marriage. 

 94. The Probate Court charges a filing fee of one dollar per thousand dollars 

based on the assessed tax value of the property for recording deeds in Marshall County.  
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The deed reflects that a fee of $153.00 was charged for filing.  At a minimum the value of 

the property transferred based on the assessed tax value is $153,000.   

 95. The Hardens owned two businesses in 2004, The Pharoah Shop, Inc. and 

The Pharoah Shop of Cullman, Inc. located in Arab, Alabama and Cullman, Alabama, 

respectively.   

 96. The commercial property transferred to the Martins by the Hardens is the 

site of one of the Hardens’ businesses, the Pharoah Shop, Inc. of Arab, Alabama.    

 97. The property was listed for sale for $350,000 dollars during 2004 and 

early 2005 by Century 21 – The Premiere Agency of Arab, Alabama.  The listing agent 

was Ms. Joann Smith, the Hardens real estate agent in the sale of the Huntington Circle 

property.    

 98. Monica Robertson is the Hardens’ daughter. 

            99. On or about June 29, 2004, Monica Robertson listed a new business, 

Pharoah Music & Video, Inc. in Calera, Alabama, Shelby County on Alabama Secretary 

of the State of Alabama web site.   

            100. The owner/operator of Pharoah Music & Video, Inc. is listed as Ms. 

Monica Robertson of 139 King Richards Way, Calera, Alabama. 

 101. Pharoah Music & Video is located in Cullman, Alabama. 

 102. Larry and Marsha Harden transferred music and video inventory from the 

Pharoah Shop, Inc. of Arab to their daughter Monica Robertson. 

 103. Larry and Marsha Harden are the de facto owners and operators of 

Pharoah Music & Video, Inc. 
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104. On or about July 6, 2004, Larry and Marsha Harden filed a pro se answer 

to the original complaint generally denying all claims.   

 105. On or about September 18, 2004, the Hardens officially closed The 

Pharoah Shop, Inc. of Arab.   

 106. On or about October 6, 2004, Larry & Marsha Harden filed for Chapter 7 

Bankruptcy Protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of 

Alabama, Southern Division in Birmingham, AL # 04-08728-TBB7.  

 107. On or about October 12, 2004, a suggestion of Bankruptcy was filed in 

Kubert v. Scheer et. al. CV-04-0244 for Larry and Marsha Harden. 

 108. On or about January 3, 2005, Keith Kubert and Brenda Kubert, by and 

through their attorney of record, Elisa Smith Rives, filed an adversarial complaint 

objecting to discharge pursuant to Bankruptcy Code 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2)(3) & (4) 

against joint debtors, Larry Harden and Marsha Harden including discharge of debt 

relating to pending litigation in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Alabama, over the 

debtors’ sale of residential real estate to the Kuberts.   

 109. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2) discharge shall be 

granted to the debtor(s), unless “the debtor(s), with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud a 

creditor . . . has transferred, removed, destroyed, mutilated, or concealed or has 

permitted to be transferred, removed, destroyed, mutilated, or concealed (A) property of 

the debtor, within one year before the date of the filing of the petition.”    

 110. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4)(A)(B) the court can also deny discharge 

if “the debtor(s) knowingly and fraudulently, in or in connection with the case – (A) 

made a false oath or account; (B) presented or used a false claim; . . .  .”   
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111. On or about July 20, 2005, trial was held in the United States Bankruptcy 

Court for the Northern District of Alabama Southern Division in AP-05-00001 on the 

issue of fraudulent transfer of property and other issues defined in the adversarial 

complaint. 

112. Larry Harden, Marsha Harden, Monica Robertson, and Bobby Martin 

were called as witnesses by plaintiffs. 

113. The court heard testimony on the issues by Marsha Harden, Monica 

Robertson, and Bobby Martin.  Larry Harden did not appear at trial.  

114. Pursuant to Alabama law the commercial property held by Bobby and 

Myra Martin was held in constructive trust for the Hardens’ creditors, and the Martin’s 

had knowledge of this fact. 

115. On or about September 6, 2005, Bobby and Myra Martin transferred by 

Warranty Deed the commercial property that was the site of the Pharoah Shop, Inc. of 

Arab to Austin Hinds and Jacqueline Hinds. 

116. On or about October 17, 2005, the court issued an Order finding in favor 

of the Kuberts and against the Hardens on their claim that the debtor(s), Larry and 

Marsha Harden, with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud a creditor . . .  transferred, 

removed, destroyed, mutilated, or concealed or. . . permitted to be transferred, removed, 

destroyed, mutilated, or concealed (A) property of the debtor in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 

727(a)(2).   

117. The court also found in favor of the Kuberts and against the Hardens on 

their claim that in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4) that “the debtor(s) knowingly and 
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fraudulently, in or in connection with the case – (A) made a false oath or account; (B) 

presented or used a false claim; . . .  .”   

118. The Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Alabama Southern 

Division Order, Adjudged and Decreed that the Hardens’ Chapter 7 discharge be denied 

pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2) & (a)(4). 

119. The Hardens fraudulently conveyed and/or transferred the commercial 

property they owned located in Arab, Alabama that was the site of the Pharoah Shop, Inc. 

to Bobby and Myra Martin in violation of Alabama Fraudulent Alabama Uniform 

Fraudulent Transfer Act ("the AUFTA"), Ala. Code 1975, § 8-9A-1 et seq.  

120. The Hardens fraudulently conveyed and/or transferred personal property 

in the nature of music and video inventory they owned that was inventory in the Pharoah 

Shop, Inc. located in Arab, Alabama to Ms. Robertson in violation of Alabama 

Fraudulent Alabama Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("the AUFTA"), Ala. Code 1975, 

§ 8-9A-1 et seq.  

121. Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s opinion in Parklane Hoisery Co., Inc. v. 

Shore, 439 U.S. 322, 99 S.Ct. 645, 58 L. Ed. 552 (1979) the Hardens are collaterally 

estopped from relitigating the issue of whether the transfer of the commercial property to 

the Martins and the personal property in the form of music and video inventory to their 

daughter Ms. Robertson are fraudulent conveyances pursuant to the AUFTA because: (1) 

the issue of fraudulent conveyance pursuant to the AUFTA is identical to the issue of 

fraudulent transfer raised in the Kuberts’ adversarial proceeding against the Hardens for 

the denial of discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2); (2) the issue was actually litigated; 
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(3) resolution of the issue of whether the property was fraudulently transferred was 

necessary to the judgment of the denial of discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2). 

122. The Martins and Ms. Robertson hold the property or any proceeds that 

they have or will receive from the sale or other disposition of said property in a 

constructive trust for the benefit of the Kuberts as judgment creditors.  

123. The Martins transferred the commercial property held in constructive trust 

for the benefit of the Hardens’ creditors to Austin and Jacqueline Hinds with knowledge 

that they held the property in constructive trust for the benefit of the Hardens creditors.  

STATEMENT OF CLAIMS 
 

COUNT ONE 
 

(Misrepresentation) 
 

124. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and twenty three, inclusive, of this 

complaint.  

125. Plaintiffs, Mr. & Mrs. Kubert, seek damages based on the defendants’ 

misrepresentations regarding the lot size, square footage, and the concealed damage and 

defects in the Huntington Circle property. 

 126. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants Mr. & Mrs. Harden misrepresented the 

lot size, the square footage and room dimensions, and the lack of damage and defects in 

the property in order to sale the Huntington Circle property.   

 127. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Joann Smith and the Premiere Agency either 

knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless disregard for the truth misrepresented the 
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lot size and room dimensions and the lack of damage and defects in the Huntington 

Circle property.   

128. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates, as their 

exclusive agents in the purchase of the Huntington Circle property had a fiduciary duty to 

represent their interest in the purchase of the Huntington Circle property.  Ms. Scheer and 

Steele & Associates misrepresented the actual lot size, the actual room dimensions and 

square footage, the accurate condition of the property, that there were no negatives in the 

property, that the areas of concern listed in the inspection report were only minor and 

easily repaired, and that the purchase was a financially sound decision.  Ms. Scheer and 

Steele & Associates failed to utilize their expertise to protect the plaintiffs’ interest in the 

sale or misrepresented the extent of their expertise in order to lull the Kuberts into a false 

sense of security regarding the protection of their interest in the sale.  Plaintiffs relied 

exclusively on Ms. Scheer and Steel & Associates’ expertise and knowledge of real estate 

matters to inform them about the Huntington Circle property, to hire reputable agents to 

inspect and to ensure that the property was properly appraised, and to inform them of the 

financial and physical soundness of the property in regards to the perspective purchase.  

Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates misrepresented to the Kuberts that they should 

purchase the property as a sound financial investment.  Plaintiffs further allege that Ms. 

Scheer failed to investigate the lot size, the square footage and/or room dimensions, and 

failed to observe the damage and defects in the Huntington Circle property, which she 

was under a duty to do thus misrepresenting to the Kuberts that the property was 

physically sound and in good condition. 
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129. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates and defendant 

Amerispec either innocently, knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless disregard 

misrepresented to the Kuberts that the Huntington Circle property was sound and void of 

major defects and damage and that the MLS listing regarding the lot size and room 

dimensions and square footage were accurate so that the Kuberts would purchase the 

property. 

 130. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates intentionally 

hired an unlicensed and inexperienced inspector to inspect the property so that the true 

nature of the property would not be revealed so that the Kuberts would purchase the 

property. 

131. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates and Amerispec 

innocently, knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless disregard misrepresented that 

the Huntington Circle property was sound and a good purchase so that Ms. Scheer and 

Steele & Associates would gain a substantial commission on the sale.   

132. Plaintiffs allege that in return for misrepresenting the condition of the 

property plaintiffs allege that Amerispec gained a promise of future business between 

Amerispec, Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates and/or Joann Smith and Premiere 

Agency- Century 21.      

COUNT TWO 

(Fraudulent Suppression) 

133. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and thirty two, inclusive, of this 

complaint.   
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134. Defendants Joann Smith and Premiere Agency, Scheer and Steele & 

Associates, the Hardens, and Amerispec have committed the tort of fraudulent 

suppression in that they knowingly, intentionally, or with reckless disregard fraudulently 

suppressed information regarding the actual lot size, room dimensions, square footage, 

and known damage and defects in the Huntington Circle property including dangerous 

conditions. 

135. Plaintiffs allege that the Hardens committed the tort of fraudulent 

suppression by concealing and/or camouflaging damage to the interior and exterior of the 

structure in order to deceive buyers so that the property would sell, and/or by concealing 

the known lot size and room dimensions. 

136. Plaintiffs allege that they relied on the defendants’ fraudulent suppressions 

to their detriment, and that “but for” the defendants’ failure to disclose these defects and 

known conditions in the property the plaintiffs would not have purchased the property.  

 137. As a result of the defendants’ failure to disclose their misrepresentations 

plaintiffs have been denied the benefit of their bargain in that the purchased property is 

not what they wanted, and they were unable to recoup their investment.  

 138. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants Mr. & Mrs. Harden, Amerispec, Ms. 

Scheer and Steele & Associates, Ms. Joann Smith and the Premiere Agency fraudulent 

suppressed information regarding the true lot size, the true square footage and room 

dimensions, and fraudulent concealed damage and defects in order to sell the Huntington 

Circle property.   

 139. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Joann Smith and the Premiere Agency were 

familiar with the property because the property had been on the market for several years 
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and Ms. Smith lives in the community.  Plaintiffs further allege that Ms. Joann Smith and 

the Premiere Agency were in possession of the plot map at the time of the sale and prior 

to closing and knew that the MLS incorrectly stated the lot size.  

140. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Joann Smith’s husband determined the room 

dimensions in the Huntington Circle residence, and accordingly Joann Smith and 

Premiere Agency knew the MLS incorrectly stated the room dimensions.  

 141. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates, as their 

exclusive agents in the sale of their Brownsboro residence and the purchase of the 

Huntington Circle property, intentionally and/or knowingly or with reckless disregard 

concealed the true and accurate lot size, room dimensions, square footage, and damaged 

and defects to the Huntington Circle property.  Ms. Scheer either intentionally or 

recklessly disregarded information about the Huntington Circle property and/or was 

without sufficient knowledge of the Huntington Circle property to represent to the 

Kuberts that the Huntington Circle property was a good purchase. 

 142. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates and defendant 

Amerispec knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless disregard concealed the 

damage and defects in the Huntington Circle property by sending an unqualified 

individual to inspect the property. 

143. Plaintiffs allege that Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates, Amerispec, and 

Joann Smith and Premiere Agency either knowingly, intentionally, and/or with reckless 

disregard concealed the damage and defects in the Huntington Circle property and 

represented that it was sound and a good purchase so that Ms. Scheer and Steele & 

Associates and Joann Smith and Premiere Agency would gain a substantial sale’s 
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commission on the series of transactions and Amerispec would gain a promise of future 

business.      

COUNT THREE 

(Breach of Contract) 

144. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and forty three, inclusive, of this 

complaint. 

145. Defendants, AmeriSpec, Mr. & Mrs. Harden, Ms. Scheer and Steele & 

Associates are liable for breach of contract in that they failed to perform their contractual 

duties.  

COUNT FOUR 
 

(Negligence and/or Wantonness) 

146. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and forty six, inclusive, of this 

complaint. 

147. Defendants, AmeriSpec, Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates owed a duty 

to act as competent agents for plaintiffs in regards to their purchase of the Huntington 

Circle property.  Defendants breach their duty to plaintiffs by negligently and/or 

wantonly failing to inspect and/or engage competent individuals to inspect and/or 

disclose the defects in the Huntington Circle property, and as a result of the defendants’ 

breach of duty plaintiffs were harmed in that they purchased the property when they 

would not have purchased it “but for” the defendants’ negligence and/or wantonness.  
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COUNT FIVE 

(Intentional Failure to Train) 

148.  Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and forty seven, inclusive, of this 

complaint. 

 149. Plaintiffs allege that Amerispec by and through its agent Mr. Fraley as 

owner and operator of the local franchise knowingly, intentional and/or with reckless 

disregard sent an unlicensed and unqualified individual to inspect the property located at 

980 Huntington Circle, Arab, Alabama. 

COUNT SIX 

(Breach of Fiduciary Duty) 

150. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and forty nine, inclusive, of this 

complaint. 

151. Defendants, AmeriSpec, Ms. Scheer and Steele & Associates owed a duty 

of loyalty to act with a single-minded devotion towards the plaintiffs’ best interest in 

regards to the purchase of the Huntington Circle property.  Defendants breached their 

duty of loyalty to the plaintiffs by acting on behalf of their own interest of acquiring a fee 

and securing a commission and by failing to properly inspect and/or investigate pertinent 

aspects of the property and/or by failing to reveal known defects and dangerous 

conditions in the Huntington Circle property.   
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COUNT SEVEN 

(FRAUD) 

152.  Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and fifty one, inclusive, of this 

complaint. 

 153. Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Fraley fraudulent induced Mr. Kubert to sign a 

release regarding claims against Amerispec by informing Mr. Kubert that the failure to 

detect and report damage and defects in the Huntington Circle property was the result of 

negligence on the part of the inspector and that the inspector was fully qualified and an 

architect when Mr. Fraley knew that the inspector was unlicensed and/or unqualified at 

the time of the inspection, that under Alabama law the limit of liability clause contained 

in the Inspection Agreement could not be enforced because the inspector was unlicensed.   

 154. Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Fraley fraudulent induced Mr. Kubert to sign a 

release of potential claims against Amerispec because he knew the individual conducting 

the inspection knew about the defects and damage and failed to report the same either 

intentionally, knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the facts. 

 155. Plaintiffs allege that Amerispec engaged in fraudulent conduct by 

submitting a release in bad faith as a defense to the present action when Amerispec knew 

or should have known that the release was unenforceable under Alabama law because the 

individual who conducted the inspection was not licensed.  
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COUNT EIGHT 
 

(Fraudulent Transfer of Real and Personal Property with Intent to Defraud 
Judgment Creditors) 

 
156. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and fifty five, inclusive, of this 

complaint.  

157. Plaintiffs maintain that the issue of whether the transfer of commercial 

property to Bobby and Myra Martin pursuant the Warranty Deed recorded in Book 2945 

Page 167 is fraudulent pursuant to the Alabama Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, § 8-

9A-1 et seq., Ala. Code 1975 is precluded.  

158. Plaintiffs allege that the transfer of commercial property from Bobby and 

Myra Martin to Austin and Jacqueline Hinds pursuant the Warranty Deed recorded in 

Book 3200 Page 109 is fraudulent pursuant to the Alabama Uniform Fraudulent Transfer 

Act, § 8-9A-1 et seq., Ala. Code 1975.  

COUNT NINE 

(Conspiracy to Fraudulently Transfer Real and Personal Property with Intent to 

Deceive and Defraud Judgment Creditors) 

159. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts and 

allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred and fifty eight, inclusive, of this 

complaint.   

160. Plaintiffs allege that the Hardens, the Martins, the Hinds, Ms. Robertson 

and unnamed coconspirators X, Y, Z engaged in a conspiracy to fraudulently convey and 

transfer property owned by the Hardens in order to intentionally deceive and defraud 

 29



Keith and Brenda Kubert as potential judgment creditors in order to avoid civil liability 

for their bad acts and fraudulent practices in the sale of the Huntington Circle property.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Based on the foregoing actions of the defendants plaintiffs have suffered injury 

entitling them to relief in both law and equity. 

 WHEREFORE plaintiffs demand judgment as follows: 

 (i). A trial by jury on all issues; 

 (ii). Contractual, compensatory, consequential, and punitive damages;  

 (iii). Judicial determination in equity that plaintiffs are entitled to restitution; 

 (iv)  Avoidance of the transfer to the extent necessary to satisfy the creditor's  

  claim; 

(v)  An attachment or other provisional remedy against the asset transferred or  

  other property of the transferee in accordance with the procedure   

  prescribed by any applicable provision of any other statute or the Alabama 

  Rules of Civil Procedure; 

(vi)  Subject to applicable principles of equity and in accordance with   

  applicable rules of civil procedure: 

   a.  an injunction against further disposition by the debtor or a  

    transferee, or both, of the asset transferred or of other  

    property;  

  b.  Appointment of a receiver to take charge of the asset  

    transferred or of other property of the transferee; and  

  c.  Any other relief the circumstances may require;  

 30



 (vii). Award plaintiffs any other remedy that the court deems appropriate.  

 

        Respectfully submitted,  

_______________________ 

        Elisa Smith Rives  
     Attorney for plaintiffs  

Keith and Brenda Kubert 
        (riv-012) 
OF COUNSEL: 
 
Elisa S. Rives, LLC 
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103 
Guntersville, AL 35976 
Tel:  (256) 582-3559  Fax: (256) 582-3559 Cell: (256) 558-4626 

 
 

THE CLERK IS DIRECTED TO SERVE THE FOLLOWING BY CERTIFIED 
MAIL 

 
Austin E. Hinds, Jr.        
730 10th Street NE 
Arab, Alabama 35016-1667 
 
Jacqueline L. Hinds        
730 10th Street NE 
Arab, Alabama 35016-1667 
 
Ms. Monica Robertson 
139 King Richards Way 
Calera, AL 35040 
 
Mr. Bobby W. Martin 
135 Phillips Road 
Baileyton, AL 35019  
 
Mr. Myra J. Martin 
135 Phillips Road 
Baileyton, AL 35019  
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THE FOLLOWING PARTIES HAVE BEEN SERVED BY PLAINTIFFS 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

A true and correct copy of the foregoing as been served on counsel for defendants at the 
addresses and pro se parties listed below by placing a copy of the same in the United States Mail 
on the 11th day of January 2006. 

 
Joseph E. Stott, Esq. 
SCOTT, SULLIVAN, STREETMAN & FOX, P.C.  
2450 ValleyDale Road 
Birmingham, Alabama 35244 
 
Nicole Schroer, Esq. 
WIMER & LEE, P.A., 
P.O. Box 2168 
Huntsville, Alabama 35801 
 
P. Scott Arnston, Esq. 
LANIER FORD SHAVER & PAYNE P.C. 
200 West Side Square, Suite 5000 
P.O. Box 2087 
Huntsville, Alabama 35801  
 
Larry and Marsha Harden 
936 Sundown Drive NW 
Arab, Alabama   35016  
 
       ___________________________ 
       Elisa Smith Rives  
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